IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI  
COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

LEROY HARRIS

APPELLANT

VS.

CASE NUMBER 2013 - KA - 02009 - COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

---

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF  
WASHINGTON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI  
CAUSE NUMBER CR - 2012 - 0069

PREPARED BY:

BRANDON I. DORSEY, MSB # 100291  
BRANDON I. DORSEY, PLLC  
POST OFFICE BOX 13427  
JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39236 - 3427  
TELEPHONE: ( 601 ) 969 - 6960  
FACSIMILE: ( 601 ) 969 - 6959

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT VIOLATED LEROY HARRIS' CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL.
- II. WHETHER THE VERDICT FINDING LEROY HARRIS GUILTY OF ARMED ROBBERY IS AGAINST AND / OR INCONSISTENT WITH THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.
- III. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING LEROY HARRIS' OBJECTION TO THE ADMISSION OF THE STATE'S DVD MARKED, IDENTIFIED AND ADMITTED AS S - 1 ON THE BASIS THAT SUCH DVD'S PROBATIVE VALUE WAS OUTWEIGHED BY ITS PREJUDICIAL EFFECT.
- VII. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING LEROY HARRIS' MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. NATURE OF THE CASE

The instant case is submitted to this Honorable Court to determine: ( 1 ) whether the lower court violated the Leroy Harris' constitutional right to a speedy trial; ( 2 ) whether the verdict finding Leroy Harris guilty of armed robbery is against and / or inconsistent with the overwhelming weight of the evidence; ( 3 ) whether the lower court erred in overruling Leroy Harris' objection to the admission of the state's DVD marked, identified and admitted as S -1 on the basis that such DVD's probative value was outweighed by its prejudicial effect and ( 4 ) whether the lower court erred in overruling Leroy Harris' motion for directed verdict.

Appellant, Leroy Harris, by and through his attorney, argue, contend and submits to this Honorable Court the lower court has committed reversible error and as a result, the verdict should be overturned and / or reversed and remanded.

### B. THE COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS IN THE LOWER COURT

That Appellant, Leroy Harris, on or about June 12, 2012 was indicted by the grand jurors of Washington County, Mississippi on the charge of armed robbery pursuant to Section 97 - 37 - 37 ( 1 ) of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as amended.

( TR 0001, RE 11 ). Subsequent thereto, Leroy Harris was arraigned and the matter was set for trial.

That Appellant filed a Motion To Withdrawal Of Counsel on or about December 14, 2011. ( TR 00009 - 00010, RE 12 - 13 ). In addition, Appellant filed a Request Motion For Reduction Of Bond. ( TR 00012 - 00013, RE 14 - 15 ). On or about July 11, 2012, Appellant filed a Motion To Vacate Retired Indictment - Answer To State Indictment Said Filed On June 12, 2012. ( TR 00017 - 00017 - 00019, RE 16 - 18 ). Appellant filed his Motion To Dismiss For Failure To Provide Speed Trial on or about December 6, 2012. ( TR 00048 - 00049, RE 19 - 20 ). In addition, Appellant filed a Requesting Motion For Dismissal also on or about December 6, 2012. ( TR 00051 - 00053, RE 21 - 23 ). That Appellant filed a subsequent Motion To Dismiss For Failure To Provide Speedy Trial on or about August 5, 2013. ( TR 00079 - 00084, RE 24 - 29 ).

That an Order Setting Trial was entered on or about December 17, 2012, setting this mater for trial February 20, 2013. ( TR 00054, RE 30 ). That an Order Re - Setting Trial was entered February 25, 2013 re - setting the matter for trial on May 21, 2013. ( TR 00068, RE 31 ). That on or about May 22, 2013, a subsequent Order Re - Setting Trial was entered re - setting the matter for trial on July 23, 2013. ( TR 00073, RE 32 ). That on or about July 29, 2013, a subsequent Order Re - Setting Trial was entered re - setting the matter for trial October 1, 2013. ( TR 00077, RE 33 ). That on or about October 14, 2013, the lower court entered its Order Denying Defendant Harris' Motion To Dismiss ( SpeedY Trial ). ( TR 00102 - 00105, RE 34 - 37 ). That Defendant filed his Motion For Severance And Separate Trials on or about October 16, 2013. ( TR 00106 - 00108, RE 38 - 40 ). That the trial of the instant matter commenced on or about November 13, 2013, resulting in "the verdict" that

serve as the basis for the instant brief. ( TR 00143, RE 41 ).

### C. THE DISPOSITION OF THE LOWER COURT

That as a result of the trial that commenced on or about November 13, 2103, Appellant was found guilty of armed robbery and the firearm enhancement. ( TR 00143, RE 41 ). As a direct and proximate result thereof, Appellant, by and through his attorneys<sup>1</sup> of record, moved the lower court for a motion for judgment notwithstanding jury verdict or in the alternative a new trial and for reasonable bail pending appeal. ( TR 00160 - 00162, RE 42 - 44 ). Prior to the actual filing of the “motion for judgment notwithstanding the jury verdict”, the Court had entered its Order Denying Motion For Judgment NOV, even though such Motion had not actually been filed. ( TR 00147, RE 45 ). Subsequent thereto, the lower court entered its Sentencing Order, wherein he was directed and ordered into the custody of the Mississippi Department Of Corrections. ( TR 00151 - 00153, RE 46 - 48 ).

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The instant matter arose out of an incident that occurred on or about April 23, 2011. According to the alleged victim, namely Jing Rosella, on the day in question, she was parking her car in her garage at her home. ( TR 153, RE 49 ). Ms. Rosella represented that “the blue car” followed her and drove behind her towards her driveway. ( TR 153, RE 49 ). Ms. Rosella testified that she saw someone coming from out the passenger seat through

---

<sup>1</sup>At the time that Leroy Harris' Motion For Judgment Notwithstanding Jury Verdict Or In The Alternative A New Trial And For Reasonable Bail Pending Trial, the Washington County Public Defender's Office was still listed as “counsel of record”, but Brandon I. Dorsey filed said Motion so as to make a record.

the rearview mirror and that person came quickly to her car along side the left side. Ms. Rosella testified that “the person” yelled out “ give me your money!” Ms. Rosella testified that “the person” had a gun that “glittered” and told her that if she closed the window that she knew what he was going to do with the gun. ( TR 155, RE 50). Ms. Rosella testified “the person” took her purse, ran back to the car behind her, backed out of the driveway and took off. ( TR 157, RE 51 ). Ms. Rosella testified that the vehicle was a truck with a tool box in the back. ( TR 157, RE 51 ).

According to Deputy Marvin Marshall, on the day in question, he was patrolling when he received traffic from dispatch in reference to an armed robbery in the north end of the county. ( TR 91, RE 52 ). As he started in the direction of Abide Road, he saw a vehicle that fit the description of the vehicle that was given by dispatch. ( TR 92, RE 53 ). Deputy Marshall testified that he got behind the truck, put his lights on and the truck pulled into an apartment complex. ( TR 92, RE 53 ). According to Deputy Marshall, when he ordered the occupants out of the truck, the occupants fled. ( TR 92, RE 52 ). Subsequent thereto, an inventory of the truck was completed, resulting in the discovery of a cell phone and the cell phone contained a picture and said picture identified Appellant as the other occupant that fled the vehicle who was not apprehended at the scene. ( TR 92, RE 52 ).

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Leroy Harris contends that the lower court committed reversible error when it violated his constitutional right to a speedy trial. Leroy Harris also contends that the verdict of armed robbery is against and / or inconsistent with the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Mr. Harris also contends that the lower court erred in overruling his objection to the admission of the state's DVD marked, identified and admitted as S -1 on the basis that such DVD's probative value was outweighed by its prejudicial effect. Mr. Harris also contends that the lower court erred in overruling his motion for directed verdict.

## ARGUMENT

### I. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT VIOLATED LEROY HARRIS' CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO SPEEDY TRIAL

That both the United States Constitution and the Mississippi Constitution provide an accused the right to a speedy and public trial. *State v. Galloway*, 2010 - DP - 01927 - SCT ( 2013 ). Four factors guide this Court when determining whether an accused's right to speedy trial has been violated, which include: ( 1 ) length of delay; ( 2 ) reason for delay; ( 3 ) whether the defendant asserted his right to a speedy trial and ( 4 ) whether the defense suffered prejudice from the delay. *Id.* ( Citing *Johnson v. State*, 68 So.3d 1239, 1241 ( Miss. 2011 ); ( citing *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514 ( 1972 ) ). The "review" of a speedy trial claim encompasses a fact question of whether the delay rose from good cause. *Myers v. State*, 2013 - KA - 00226 - SCT ( 2013 ). Under this Court's standard of review, this Court will uphold a decision based on substantial, credible evidence. *Folk v. State*, 576 So.2d

1243, 1247 ( Miss. 1991 ). If no probative evidence supports the trial court's finding of good cause, this Court will ordinarily reverse. Id. The state bears the burden of proving good cause for speedy trial delay, and thus the risk of non - persuasion. Id.

In the instant matter, Appellant filed "motions" with the lower court on or about December 6, 2012 and August 5, 2013, respectively, asserting his claim for "speedy trial." ( TR 00048 - 00049, RE 19 - 20, TR 00051 - 00053 RE 21 - 23 ). Appellant was arrested on or about April 23, 2011 for armed robbery. On or about June 12, 2012, Appellant was indicted on the charge of armed robbery. On or about July 16, Appellant was arraigned. The length of time between when Appellant was arrested until the date of trial is approximately 891 days. The length of time between Appellant's arraignment unto the date of trial is approximately 441 days. Whether this Court analyzes the "speedy trial" claim from the date of arrest of the date of arraignment, the State exceeded the "270 day" time frame in which to try Appellant. The statutory right to speedy trial found in Section 99 - 17 - 1 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972, as amended, states in pertinent part as follows:

Unless good cause be shown, and a continuance duly granted by the court, all offenses for which indictment are presented to the court shall be tried no later than two hundred seventy ( 270 ) days after the accused has been arraigned.

The state, in regards to "the reason for the delay", represented that " ..... there were fingerprint examination that needed to be done..... there was also a gun that needed to be analyzed at that time so that was the delay in regards to this defendant being indicted.

( TR 4, RE 54 ). The state further represented that “ ..... there were several items that were sent to the crime lab for analyzation, including some fingerprints that were found - lifted from the vehicle which matched this defendant...” ( TR 4, RE 54 ). Appellant contends that the State failed to demonstrate good cause in its explanation that it presented to the lower court. For example, the state never indicated: ( a ) when the fingerprint evidence was obtained nor ( b ) when the fingerprint evidence was forwarded to the Mississippi Crime Lab for testing. Appellant avers that the lower court erred in not requiring the state to represent the date of obtaining the fingerprints and the date that same were submitted to the “crime lab” and that the ruling to deny his “speedy trial” violated his constitutional right, as such “ruling” was not supported by any evidence.

Next, the state represented that “the delay” was also due to the alleged victim’s nationality. Specifically, that said victim was a Madarin Chinese, and they had difficulty in communicating with her. ( TR 4, RE 54 ). However, “the record” reveals that the state did not move the lower court for authority to appoint an interpreter until on or about February 13, 2013. ( TR 00055 - TR 00067, RE 55 - 67 ). The lower court entered its Order granting said motion on or about February 21, 2013. ( TR 00067, RE 67 ). Appellant avers that the lower court erred in denying its speedy trial motion as the record is “void” of any inquiry by the Court regarding the efforts, if any, demonstrated on the part of the state ether prior to the appointment of an interpreter or after such appointment.

The Appellant avers that there is no dispute that he timely asserted his claim for “speedy trial.” Same is memorialized by the filing of the subsequent “Motions” that he filed with the lower court on December 6, 2012 and August 5, 2013 respectively. The Appellant avers that he was “prejudiced” by the delay in bring this matter to trial. In *State v. Magnusen*, 624 So. 2d 1275, 1284 ( Miss. 1994 ), this Court found presumptive prejudice from a fifteen - month delay between arrest and trial. Any delay over eight ( 8 ) months is presumptively prejudicial and triggers balancing of the other three ( 3 ) factors. *State v. Ferguson*, 576 So. 1252, 1254 ( Miss. 1991 ). Once so found, the burden shifts to the state to produce evidence justifying the delay and persuade as to the legitimacy of the reasons. Appellant contends that he was incarcerated and detained on the charge of armed robbery, and such charges are “anxiety - producing.”

## II. WHETHER THE VERDICT FINDING LEROY HARRIS GUILTY OF ARMED ROBBERY IS AGAINST AND / OR IS INCONSISTENT WITH THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

A new trial should be granted if the jury’s verdict “so contradicts the overwhelming weight of the evidence that, to allow it to stand, would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice. *Hawthorne v. State*, 883 So.2d 86 ( Miss. 2004 )( Citing *Frost v. State* 453 So.2d 695 ( Miss. 1984 )). If the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, a new trial should be ordered. *Holloway v. State*, 312 So.2d 700, 701 ( Miss. 1975 ).

In *Hawthorne*, the Court opined that the evidence introduced by the state was “too weak” to prove sanity. The Court went further, and opined that the state did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that defendant Hawthorne was sane. Consider in the instant

case, there was absolutely no evidence whatsoever, presented by any witness, that Appellant Harris were ever seen with one another. To allow the jury verdict to stand on the charge of armed robbery, when the state failed to introduce any evidence to meet its burden of proof for a charge of armed robbery, has resulted in an unconscionable injustice.

III. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING  
LEROY HARRIS' OBJECTION TO THE ADMISSION OF THE  
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI'S DVDS MARKED AS S - 1  
ON THE BASIS THAT SUCH PHOTOGRAPHS' PROBATIVE VALUE  
WAS OUTWEIGHED BY ITS PREJUDICIAL EFFECT

Relevant evidence may be inadmissible when its probative value is outweighed by its tendency to mislead, to confuse, or to prejudice the jury. If the introduction of the evidence would waste more time than its probative value was worth, then a trial judge may rightly exclude such otherwise relevant evidence. U.S. v. Renfro, 620 F.2d 497 ( 5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1980 ). Appellant avers that the lower court erred with respects to the “admission” of S - 1 as it failed to articulate “what aspects” of said evidence “passed” through the filter of Rule 403 of the Mississippi Rules Of Evidence. That Appellant concedes that the lower court judge was charged with the non - delegable duty of considering carefully, all the facts and circumstances surrounding the admission of the subject DVD identified, marked and admitted as S - 1, however, said lower court failed to make “careful consideration” and “that” is reversible error in these premises. Appellant further maintains that the introduction of such DVD was solely meant for the purpose of inflaming the jury.

IV. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING  
LEROY HARRIS' MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT

The standard of review for the denial of a motion for directed verdict and judgment notwithstanding the verdict is the same. *Humphrey v. State*, 883 So.2d 86 ( Miss. 2004 ) ( Citing *Shelton v. State*, 853 So.2d 1171, 1186 ( Miss. 2003. ) ). A directed verdict challenges the sufficiency of the evidence presented at trial. *Id.* This Court demands that the lower court reverse and render if the facts, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, point in favor of the defendant that reasonable men could not have arrived at a guilty verdict. *Id.* ( Citing *Seeling v. State*, 844 So.2d 439 ( Miss. 2003 ).

In the instant case, even when looking at the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, the evidence was not sufficient for the armed robbery conviction.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant asserts the lower court has erred and should therefore, be reversed and same shall be rendered and/or in the alternative remanded to the lower court.