#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**LEROY HARRIS APPELLANT** 

VS. NO. 2013-KA-02009-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI **APPELLEE** 

### **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

# APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO. 4912

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL **POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680** 

# **

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

# **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

T.

The trial court did not err in finding that Harris was not denied his statutory right to a speedy trial. *See* **Sharp v. State,** 786 So.2d 372 (Miss. 2001); **Ransom v. State,** 435 So.2d 1169 (Miss. 1983), as viewed in harmony with Miss. Code Ann. § 1-3-67.

Harris's argument he was denied his constitutional, as opposed to his statutory, right to a speedy trial is procedurally barred because neither Harris nor his lawyer ever pressed for a timely

ruling. Martin v. State, 354 So.2d 1114 (Miss. 1978); Marr v. State, 159 So.2d 167 (Miss. 1963).

The trial judge should not be placed in error on a ruling he had no chance to make until the day prior to the first day of trial.

In any event, the familiar analysis found in **Barker v. Wingo** [citation omitted] favors the State, although barely.

"[I]f a continuance is granted to a co-defendant for good cause, then it operates as a good cause delay as to a jointly charged defendant." **Horton v. State,** 726 So.2d 238, 246 (¶32) (Ct. App. Miss. 1998).

"[B]eing incarcerated alone, without proof of any anxiety and stress above and beyond that which normally occurs with being incarcerated or demonstrating how the particular incarceration is oppressive is insufficient to show sufficient prejudice for this factor to weigh in [Harris's] favor."

Jefferson v. State, 818 So.2d 1099, 1108 (¶22) (Miss. 2002).

#### II. and IV.

## **Sufficiency of the Evidence**

The evidence, viewed in its entirety and construed in a light most favorable to the State's theory of the case, was legally sufficient to sustain Harris's convictions of armed robbery and firearm enhancement.

An inventory of the blue truck in which Harris was a passenger resulted in the discovery of a cell phone. Stored inside the cell phone was a photograph of the defendant who was identified as the passenger who fled the vehicle. Harris was arrested later that day at an address on South 9<sup>th</sup> Street. (R. 100, 106-07)

Deputy Parson testified that "[a]bout the 27<sup>th</sup> of that month, [he] went down and showed Ms. Rosella a photo lineup where she identified Mr. Harris in the photo lineup." (R. 107)

Any rational, fair-minded trier of fact could have found beyond a reasonable doubt Rosella's eyewitness identification credible, as well as finding the other essential elements of each offense. **Bush v. State,** 895 So.2d 836 (Miss. 2005). Put another way, reasonable and fair-minded men could have reached different conclusions on the elements.

## Weight of the Evidence

Weighing the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict, it cannot be said that to allow the verdict to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice.

#### III.

"The relevancy and admissibility of evidence are largely within the discretion of the trial court and reversal may be had only where that discretion has been abused." **Fulks v. State**, 110 So.3d 764, 769 (¶19) (Miss. 2013), quoting from **Johnson v. State**, 567 So.2d 237, 238 (Miss. 1990).

In making evidentiary rulings trial judges enjoy "a great deal of discretion as to the relevancy and admissibility of evidence." **Love v. State,** *supra,* 21 So.3d 952, 954 (¶11) (Ct. App. Miss. 2013) citing **Shaw v. State,** 915 So.2d 442, 445 (¶8) (Miss. 2005).

No abuse of judicial discretion has been demonstrated here.

#### ARGUMENT

I.

THE CIRCUIT JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTIONS TO DISMISS FOR WANT OF A SPEEDY TRIAL.

Leroy Harris was arrested on April 23, 2011, the day he committed his offense. (R. 100, 106-07)

Harris was indicted on June 12, 2012, and arraigned on July 16, 2012. (C.P. at 1-2, 22) Harris was brought to trial on November 13, 2013. (R. 17)

It appears that Harris was continuously incarcerated from April 23, 2011, until the date of his trial, November 13, 2013, a period of 933 days give or take a day or two.

We have done our math although, admittedly, we are often prone to error. The following figures are approximate which is good enough for our purposes here.

There were approximately 933 days between arrest on April 23, 2011, and trial on November 13, 2013; 415 days between arrest and indictment on June 12, 2012; 520 days between indictment and trial, and 485 days between arraignment on July 16, 2012 and trial.

Harris claims both his statutory and constitutional rights to a speedy trial were violated. (Brief of Appellant at 7 of 12)

Admittedly, over 900 days of continuous incarceration without a trial is troublesome and requires a great deal of explanation.

We respectfully submit, for the reasons stated by the circuit judge in his four (4) page order and chronology denying Harris's motion to dismiss and for other reasons as well, there were good causes for the delay, and neither Harris's statutory right nor his constitutional right to a speedy trial was violated.

There is probative evidence, which is both substantial and credible, supporting the trial court's finding of "good cause" for the delay.

### A. Statutory Right to a Speedy Trial.

Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-17-1 states that

Unless good cause be shown, and a continuance duly granted by the court, all offenses for which indictments are presented to the court shall be tried no later than two hundred seventy (270) days after the accused has been arraigned.

According to Harris, the trial court erred in not holding that Harris's trial commenced more than 270 days after his arraignment in violation of § 99-17-1, Mississippi Code Annotated (1972). (Brief of Appellant at 7 of 12)

Harris argues that "[t]he State failed to demonstrate good cause in its explanation that it presented to the lower court" and that such a violation requires reversal of Harris's conviction and a dismissal of the charge. (Brief of Appellant at 7-8, 11 of 12)

If good cause is shown for the delay and a continuance is duly granted there is no statutory violation. **Golden v. State,** 968 So.2d 378 (Miss. 2007).

The State's "explanation" of "good cause" for the delay was presented to the trial court during a pretrial hearing conducted on September 30, 2013. (R. 2-7) The court at that time took the matter under advisement with trial scheduled to begin the following morning. (R. 6-7)

Mr. Perkins, Public Defender, informed the court at that time that Mr. Williams, lead defense counsel, was sick and there was some question as to whether or not defendant Harris would agree to allow Perkins to proceed with Harris's defense instead of Williams. (R. 7)

Apparently not.

Trial did not take place until a month and a half later on November 13, 2013, at which time Mr. Williams was present and announced ready for the defense. (R. 17)

On November 12, 2013, the day prior to trial, Harris's motion for severance filed a month earlier on October 16, 2013, was granted. (C.P. at 106-07; R. 11, 15)

No violation of the so-called 270-rule has been demonstrated by Harris because "good cause" in the form of continuances requested by a co-defendant and duly granted by the court was shown for the delay.

Continuances duly granted for good cause to a defendant or co-defendant toll the running of the statute and should be deducted from the total number of days. **Flores v. State,** 574 So.2d 1314 (Miss. 1990).

On July 16, 2012, Harris waived formal reading of the indictment and entered a plea of not guilty. (C.P. at 22) The waiver signed by Harris reads, in part, as follows: "The Two Hundred Seventy (270) day period for the trial of this case pursuant to MCA §99-17-1 begins from the date of the filing of this waiver." (C.P. at 22)

The case of **Sharp v. State,** 786 So.2d 372, 378 (Miss. 2001), contains the following language which is helpful:

\* \* \* The first step is to calculate the total number of days between arraignment (the statute clearly states that is when the right attaches) and the actual trial. For this purpose, "[t]he date of arraignment is not counted but the date of trial is and weekends are counted unless the 270<sup>th</sup> day is a Sunday." *Johnson v. State*, 756 So.2d 4, 11 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (citing *Adams v. State*, 583 So.2d 165, 167 (Miss. 1991). According to this rule, Sharp was tried 644 days after arraignment. \*

According to our calculations, Harris was tried 485 days after his arraignment on July 16, 2012.

Unless good cause was shown for any delay, Harris should have been brought to trial by April 12, 2013, nine (9) months or 270 days from July 16, 2012.

Trial took place much later on November 13-14, 2013, nearly sixteen (16) months after July 16, 2012, the date of Harris's arraignment and waiver.

485 days is well beyond the 270 day window.

Good cause in the form of continuances granted to a co-defendant on September 20, 2012, October 8, 2012, February 20, 2013, and May 1, 2013, was demonstrated for the delay.

Judge Smith, after carefully analyzing the issue, made specific findings of fact and concluded that Harris's statutory rights had not been violated because "[i]f a continuance is granted to a codefendant for good cause, it operates as a good cause delay as to a jointly charged defendant." (C.P. at 104 citing **Horton v. State**, *supra*, 726 So.2d 238, 246 (¶32) (Ct.App.Miss. 1998))

This Court should give great deference to the findings made by the circuit judge.

"[F]indings of fact adopted and approved by the circuit judge may not be disturbed unless manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous. A circuit court judge sitting without a jury is accorded the same deference with regard to his findings as a chancellor." **Puckett v. Stuckey**, 633 So.2d 978, 982 (Miss. 1993). *See also* **Neal v. State**, 451 So.2d 743, 753 (Miss. 1984).

# B. Constitutional Right to a Speedy Trial.

A defendant's constitutional right to a speedy trial attaches at the time of a formal indictment, information, or arrest. **Anderson v. State**, 874 So.2d 1000 (Ct. App. Miss. 2004), reh denied. *See also* **Wheeler v. State**, 826 So.2d 731, 737 (Miss. 2002) ["The time begins to run from the date of indictment."]; **Adams v. State**, 583 So.2d 165, 167 (Miss. 1991)["Unlike the statutory right to speedy trial, Adams' constitutional guarantee to a speedy trial attached at the time he was arrested."]; **Smith v. State**, 550 So.2d 406, 408 (Miss. 1989) ["(T)he constitutional right to a speedy trial attaches when a person has been accused."]; **Jackson v. State**, 864 So.2d 1047 (Ct. App. Miss. 2004).

Harris was arrested on April 23, 2011, indicted on June 12, 2012, and arraigned on July 16, 2012, at which time he entered a plea of not guilty. (C.P. at 2, 22)

Harris was brought to trial on November 13, 2013, approximately 933 days following his arrest on April 23, 2011, 520 days after his indictment on June 12, 2012, and 485 days following

his arraignment on July 16, 2012.

The case was first set for trial on February 20, 2013, following a belated omnibus hearing brought about by a continuance requested by and granted to co-defendant Cunningham. (C.P. at 54)

Trial was re-set thereafter on multiple occasions, including May 21, 2013, July 10, 2013, October 1, 2013, and November 13, 2013.

On December 6, 2012, nearly a year prior to trial-on-the merits held on November 13-14, 2013, Harris filed a *pro se* motion to dismiss for failure to provide him a speedy trial. (C.P. at 48-53) Harris sought dismissal of the charges based upon a denial of his constitutional right to a speedy trial which he had requested on June 2, 2011, prior to indictment. (C.P. at 6)

Harris filed a second motion to dismiss for want of a speedy trial on August 6, 2013. (C.P. at 79-85) Harris complained he "... is sitting in the Washington County Regional Jail while the State of Mississippi sits idle in this case." (C.P. at 81)

The motion(s) to dismiss were formally denied by an order entered on October 14, 2013, following a hearing conducted on September 30, 2013. (R. 2-10; C.P. at 102-05)

Since Harris failed to press for an earlier ruling on the constitutional aspect of his motion to dismiss, we think he waived that part of his motion. **Martin v. State**, 354 So.2d 1114, 1119 (Miss. 1978) ["It is the responsibility of the movant to obtain a ruling from the court on motions filed by him and failure to do so constitutes a waiver of same."]; **Marr v. State**, 159 So.2d 167 (Miss. 1963). *See also* **Willie v. State**, 585 So.2d 660, 671 (Miss. 1991) ["Generally, when a trial court has not ruled on a motion, a defendant is procedurally barred on appeal from claiming error."], appeal after remand 738 So.2d 217 (Miss. 1999).

The lesson to be gleaned from **Martin**, **Marr**, and **Willie** is this: Insist on a ruling!

Notwithstanding the procedural bar, if any, we respond briefly to Harris's constitutional

claim which we address without any intent of waiving a bar.

We rely upon Noe v. State, 616 So.2d 298, 300 (Miss. 1993), where this Court stated:

When a defendant's constitutional right to a speedy trial is at issue, the balancing test set out in **Barker v. Wingo**, 407 U.S. 514, 92 S.Ct. 2182, 33 L.Ed.2d 101 (1972), is applicable. The factors to consider are: (1) the length of the delay; (2) the reason for the delay; (3) whether the defendant has asserted his right to a speedy trial; and (4) whether the defendant was prejudiced by the delay.

On balance, an analysis of the so-called **Barker** factors, when considered together with other relevant circumstances favors the State, although barely.

## (1) Length of the Delay.

Harris was tried on November 13-14, 2013, approximately 933 days following his arrest on April 23, 2011.

Pre-indictment Delay: 415 days or approximately 14 months.

Harris was not indicted, however, until June 12, 2012. Thus, there was a 415 day preindictment delay.

According to the State, fingerprint examination and gun analysis were reasons for this delay. (R. 4)

Post-indictment Delay: 518 days or approximately 17months.

Harris was indicted on June 12, 2012, and brought to trial on November 13, 2013.

The Sixth Amendment right to a speedy trial applies only to post-indictment delays. **United States v. Ballard,** 779 F.2d 287 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1986). Pre-indictment delays are controlled exclusively by the statute of limitations. **Speagle v. State,** 390 So.2d 990 (Miss. 1980).

Although Harris was not indicted until 415 days following his arrest, his constitutional right to a speedy trial attached on the date of his arrest and not on the date of his indictment. **Smith v.** 

State, supra, 550 So.2d 406 (Miss 1989); Bell v. State, 769 So.2d 247 (Ct. App. Miss. 2000).

A total of 933 days elapsed between arrest and trial.

This factor clearly favors Harris.

## (2) Reasons for the Delay.

Four (4) continuances requested by and granted to co-defendant Cunningham: September 20, 2012, October 8, 2012, February 14, 2013, and April 30, 2013. (C.P. at 102-03)

One continuance requested by the State on July 8, 2013, because the victim was visiting outside the continental USA. (R. 7; C.P. at 103) Trial was subsequently reset for October 1, 2013. (R. 7; C.P. at 103)

Harris failed to bring up for hearing his *pro se* motions for dismissal filed on December 6, 2012, and again on August 6, 2013. A notation in the trial court's order denying the motion reflects that "... counsel for Harris specifically requested this *pro se* motion not be heard at one of the previous attempts for the Omnibus hearing due to the District Attorney's policy concerning the effect of motions on plea negotiations." In the absence of any rebuttal, this observation should be given great deference.

"If the defendant cause[s] the delay, he will not be allowed to complain." **Perry v. State,** 419 So.2d 194, 199 (Miss. 1982).

While there was both pre-indictment and post-indictment delay, there were reasonable and legitimate reasons and justifications for these delays.

Aside from the co-defendant's four (4) requested continuances on the dates identified above, the State requested a continuance of its own on July 8, 2013, because the victim, a key witness, was visiting relatives outside the continental USA. (R. 7; C.P. at 103)

In addition to this, the victim's native tongue was Mandarin Chinese which necessitated the

presence of a certified Mandarin interpreter at trial. The State filed a motion for an interpreter on February 13, 2013. (C.P. at 55-58) An agreed order granting this motion with defense counsel's approval was signed on February 20, 2013, and filed on February 21, 2013. (C.P. at 67)

Given the totality of the circumstances, this factor favors the State.

## (3) Assertion of Right.

The defendant's only assertion of his right to a fast and speedy trial is contained in a demand made on June 2, 2011, a year prior to indictment.

*Pro se* motions to dismiss for failure to provide a speedy trial were filed on December 6, 2012, and again on August 6, 2013. (C.P. at 48-53, 79-83)

These motions were heard on September 30, 2013. Following argument the matter was taken under advisement. (C.P. at 6-7)

An omnibus hearing was conducted on December 10, 2012, having been delayed by codefendant Cunningham's motion to continue the omnibus hearing filed on September 20, 2012. The hearing was reset for October 8, 2012. (C.P. at 102)

On or about October 8, Cunningham made a motion *ore tenus* to again continue the date for an omnibus hearing. The omnibus hearing was again reset for November 5, 2012, and finally conducted on December 10, 2012, at which time the case was set for trial on February 20, 2013. (C.P. at 54, 102)

Several other re-settings thereafter followed. (C.P. at 102-03)

Rule 9.08 of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules sets the tone and guidelines for omnibus hearings which may be held at the request of an attorney or on the court's own initiative if the defendant has entered a plea of not guilty. Harris had entered a plea of not guilty.

Two of the many purposes of the omnibus hearing are to "[m]ake rulings on any motions then

pending and ascertain whether any additional motions will be made at the hearing or continued portions thereof" and "[a]scertain whether there are any procedural or constitutional issues which should be considered." UCCC Rule 9.08 (4.) (5.).

The delay in bringing about the omnibus hearing must be attributed to co-defendant Cunningham and should not be held against the State, especially where, as here, the trial court's order of dismissal states that "... counsel for Harris specifically requested this *pro se* motion [for speedy trial] not be heard at one of the previous attempts for the omnibus hearing due to the District Attorney's policy concerning the effect of motions on plea negotiations." (C.P. at 103) This factor appears to be neutral; it favors neither party.

Harris's only assertion of his right to a speedy trial was made in June, 2011, over a year prior to his indictment in June, 2012. Although Harris later filed two motions to dismiss for want of a speedy trial, a demand for dismissal is not the equivalent of a demand for a speedy trial.

### (4) Prejudice by the Delay.

Finally, there is an absence of any suggestion in the record of actual prejudice to Harris other than a suggestion his incarceration was "anxiety producing." (Brief of Appellant at 9 of 12) The mere specter of prejudice is not a viable basis for reversal. **Adams v. State**, 583 So.2d 165 (Miss. 1991); **Wiley v. State**, 582 So.2d 1008 (Miss. 1991); **Handley v. State**, 574 So.2d 671 (Miss. 1990); **Jaco v. State**, 574 So.2d 625 (Miss. 1990).

Harris elected to remain silent at trial and was convicted based upon the eyewitness identification, both at trial and in an earlier photographic lineup, made by the victim.

Corroborating evidence was elicited from several deputies, e.g., Harris's digital photograph was stored as a screen saver on his cell phone which was found inside the get-a-way vehicle. (R. 106-07)

Harris was hopelessly guilty.

Harris suffered not one whit of prejudice. His claims at trial of prolonged incarceration, anxiety and stress and deterioration of his mental state are not persuasive because, as noted by the circuit judge, Harris is a prior convicted felon with a history of criminal activity. (R. 211-12)

This factor favors the State.

In **Noe**, *supra*, 616 So.2d at 300, this Court also stated the following with respect to the four **Barker** factors:

This Court recognized in **Beavers v. State**, *supra*, 498 So.2d 788, 790 (Miss. 1986), that

[n]o methodical formula exists according to which the **Barker** weighing and balancing process must be performed. The weight to be given each factor necessarily turns on the quality of evidence available on each and, in the absence of evidence, identification of the party with the risk of nonpersuasion. In the end, no one factor is dispositive. The totality of the circumstances must be considered.

We are mindful that no one factor is dispositive of the question. Nor is the balancing process restricted to the **Barker** factors to the exclusion of any other relevant circumstances. In **Barker**, *supra*, 33 L.Ed.2d at 118, the Supreme Court opined:

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